

# PARALLEL 45 THEATRE

## BYLAWS Restated - November 16, 2017

### ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE

Parallel 45, Inc., or "Organization" or "Parallel 45" exists for the purposes stated in the Articles of Incorporation.

### ARTICLE 2 OFFICES

The principal office of Parallel 45 shall be at such place within the state of Michigan as the Board of Directors may determine from time to time. The Board of Directors may establish other offices in or outside the state of Michigan.

### ARTICLE 3 MEMBERS

Parallel 45 is a Directorship nonprofit organization, and there shall be no members who have any right to vote or hold ownership in the Organization. The Board of Directors may approve classes of non-voting members or collaborators with rights, opportunities, and obligations that are established by the Board.

### ARTICLE 4 BOARD

#### 4.01 **General Powers**

The business, property, and affairs of Parallel 45 shall be managed by the Board of Directors (individually, "**Director**", or collectively "**Board**" or "**Board of Directors**").

#### 4.02 **-Restated Bylaws**

The Organization adopted these restated Bylaws effective November 16, 2017. These bylaws do not invalidate or affect any actions of the Board made prior to their adoption. All Board members, through adoption of the bylaws, consent to alteration of their terms and powers to be as stated in these bylaws.

#### 4.03 **Number**

There shall be not less than 3 nor more than 12 Directors on the Board, as shall be fixed from time to time by the Board.

#### 4.04 **Qualifications**

Directors shall meet the following qualifications:

- A. Support the mission and purposes of the Organization;
- B. Support the Organization financially (if expectations are set by the Board);
- C. Serve on one or more committees when reasonably possible;
- D. Attend events and participate in activities;
- E. Attend 75% of all board meetings in a 12-month period;
- F. Perform the Director's duties and work in collaboration with all board directors in good faith; and
- G. Agree to, sign as needed and follow Organization policies and procedures.

**4.05 Appointment**

The initial Directors for the Organization will be appointed by the Incorporators. Thereafter the Directors shall be appointed by a majority vote of existing Directors eligible to vote on the matter.

**4.06 Tenure; Elections.**

Directors shall be elected at each annual meeting, or in another manner authorized in these bylaws. Directors shall hold office for 3-year terms (until the director's successor is elected and qualified at the annual meeting 3 years after the Director's election), or until the director's death, resignation, or removal. Directors may serve consecutive terms. Directors' terms shall be staggered so that as close to an equal number of Directors' terms ends every third as is practicable.

To effectuate staggered terms, the Directors serving as of November 16, 2017 agree that their terms are as stated below. After re-appointment or replacement of each Director at the expiration of their term stated below, the Director or his/her replacement shall be appointed to serve a standard 3-year term:

Term Expiring March 2018: [Tracy Magoon; Christal Frost]

Term Expiring March 2019:[None ]

Term Expiring March 2020: [Andrew Buchholz; Diana Milock]

**4.07 Resignation; Removal.**

Any Director may resign at any time by providing written notice to the Organization, to effective immediately or at a later time designated in the notice. Any Director may be removed with cause by a majority vote of the remaining Directors on the Board, if before any meeting of the Board at which a vote on removal will be made the Director in question is given electronic or written notification of the Board's intention to discuss her/his case and is given the opportunity to be heard at a meeting of the Board.

Cause to remove a Board member includes, without limitation, the following:

- A. The Board member no longer meets the qualifications provided in these Bylaws.
- B. The Board member engages in activity detrimental to the best interests of the organization, in a manner the Board deems to be inconsistent with the Director's duty of loyalty or duty to act in good faith and with reasonable care.

**4.08 Vacancy**

A Director selected to fill a vacancy created by resignation, death, or removal shall be selected in the same manner as the Director being replaced and shall be appointed to serve the remainder of the term of the former Director.

**4.09 Annual Meeting.**

An annual meeting shall be held each year in August at the time and place determined by the Board of Directors, or as soon thereafter as is convenient.

**4.10 Regular and Special Meetings.**

Regular meetings of the Board may be held at the time and place as determined by resolution of the Board without notice other than the resolution. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the president or any two Directors at a time and place as determined by those persons authorized to call special meetings. Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be given to each Director in any manner at least three days before the meeting.

**4.11 Notice: Purpose and Waiver of Notice.**

Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice for that meeting. The attendance at or participation of a Director at a Board meeting waives any required notice to him or her of the meeting unless he or she at the beginning of the meeting, or when he or she arrives, objects to the meeting or the transacting of business at the meeting and after objecting does not vote for or assent to any action taken at the meeting. In addition, the Director may submit a signed waiver of notice that shall constitute a waiver of notice of the meeting.

**4.12 Meeting Procedures**

The Board may adopt by majority vote from time to time rules or guidelines for meeting procedures. The purpose of the rules will be to: (a) facilitate participation and learning by all meeting participants; and (b) enable efficient meeting process and decision making. The Board will strive not to adopt rules that interfere with the effective operation of the Board or the Organization. The failure of the Board to follow any specific meeting procedure will not invalidate the Board action unless the error or omission was made in bad faith.

**4.13 Meeting by Telephone or Similar Equipment.**

A Director may participate in a meeting by conference telephone or other means of remote communication if all individuals who are participating in the meeting can communicate with the other participants. Participation in a meeting under this section constitutes attendance in person at the meeting.

**4.14 Voting and Quorum.**

A majority of the Directors then in office constitutes a quorum for the transaction of any business at any meeting of the Board. Actions voted on and approved by at least a majority of directors present at a meeting where a quorum is present shall constitute authorized actions of the Board, except as otherwise provided by law or in these Bylaws.

This section notwithstanding, the following actions require approval by a majority of Board members (not just a majority of the quorum), or other higher amount, as indicated below:

- A. Appointment or removal of a board member;
- B. Amendment of bylaws or the articles of incorporation;

- C. Dissolution of the organization or the sale or transfer of substantially all of its assets;
- D. Hiring or termination of an executive director, or any other contract or agreement delegating significant decision-making authority to another individual or entity;
- E. Significant expenditure, or incurring debt, equal to at least 25% of the Organization's annual budget;
- F. Any decision designated as a "significant decision" if the board adopts a policy designating certain decisions as significant decisions that must be approved by a majority of the Board, regardless of the number of directors at a meeting; and
- G. Any other decision requiring approval by a majority of the Board by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws.

**4.15 Manner of Voting at Meetings.**

The Board may allow Directors present at a meeting to vote either orally, in writing, or by electronic transmission (if the director is present at the meeting). Proxy voting may be permitted if authorized by the Board according to a standard Board procedure. Parallel 45 shall maintain a record of all votes that are submitted by remote communication.

**4.16 Voting Without Meetings (Voting by Email).**

Any action required or permitted to be taken pursuant to authorization of the Board may be taken without a meeting if, before or after the action, all Directors consent to the action in writing or by electronic transmission. Written consents and electronic transmissions shall be filed with the minutes of the Board's proceeding.

**4.17 Compensation for Board Members.**

Directors shall receive no compensation for carrying out their duties as Directors. The Board may adopt policies providing for reasonable reimbursement of Directors for expenses incurred in conjunction with carrying out Board responsibilities, such as travel expenses to attend Board meetings. Directors are not restricted from being compensated for other services provided to the Organization so long as the compensation is reasonable and fair and is reviewed and approved in accordance with any applicable Conflict of Interest policy and state or federal law.

**4.18 Duties**

In addition to any other duties required by law, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or adopted by the Board, a Director of the Parallel 45 shall discharge his or her duties as a Director, including his or her duties as an officer or a member of a committee, in good faith; with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and in a manner he or she reasonably believes is in the best interests of the organization.

In discharging these and other duties, unless the Director has knowledge concerning the matter in question that makes reliance unwarranted a Director is entitled to rely on information, opinions, reports, or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, prepared by third parties, if prepared or presented by any of the following:

- A. One or more directors, officers, or employees of Organization, whom the Director reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented;

- B. Legal counsel, public accountants, engineers, or other persons as to matters the Director reasonably believes are within the person's professional or expert competence; or
- C. A committee of the Board of which he or she is not a member if the Director or officer reasonably believes that the committee merits confidence.

4.19 ***Duties of Officers.***

The officers of the Parallel 45 shall be appointed by the Board and shall include the officers described below and other officers appointed by the Board. All duties of officers are subject to the authority of the Board to delegate any specific power to another officer, director, employee, or volunteer of the Organization, in a manner consistent with law, and to assign officers additional duties:

- A. **President (also referred to as Chair).** Unless delegated to the Board to another person or persons, the president shall supervise the general control and management of the business and affairs of the Parallel 45 and shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors. The president shall see that all actions taken by the Board are executed and shall perform all other duties incident to the office. The president has authority to sign documents on behalf of the Parallel 45 for matters authorized by the Board or otherwise delegated to the President.
- B. **Vice President (also referred to as Vice-Chair).** If the president is absent or unable to perform his or her duties, the vice president shall perform the president's duties until the Board directs otherwise.
- C. **Secretary.** The secretary shall (a) keep minutes of Board meetings; (b) be responsible for providing notice to each Director as required by law, the articles of incorporation, or these bylaws; and (c) ensure the Organization has properly keeps records of corporate matters, including meeting minutes, resolutions, and the names and addresses of board members and committees.
- D. **Treasurer.** The treasurer shall (a) oversee Organization funds; (b) ensure accurate books and financial records are kept; (c) have authority to deposit money and write checks on behalf of the Organization; and (d) complete all required corporate filings.

4.20 ***Officers - Term of Office; Removal or Resignation; Vacancy.***

The officers serve one-year terms and may be appointed to additional terms. One person may hold two or more Board offices, but no Board officer may act in more than one capacity where action of two or more officers is required. An officer may resign at any time by providing written notice to the Parallel 45. Notice of resignation is effective on receipt or at a later time designated in the notice. An officer appointed by the Board may be removed with or without cause by vote of a majority of the Board. A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board.

## ARTICLE 5 COMMITTEES

**5.01 Committees; General Powers.**

The Board may designate one or more committees and subcommittees, as defined in the Michigan Nonprofit Corporation Act. Committees may include one or more Directors as well as individuals who are not Directors.

A committee with at least one Director may exercise any powers of the Board in managing the Organization's business affairs to the extent the powers are delegated in writing by the Board to the Committee, except that no committee shall have the power to: (a) amend the articles of incorporation; (b) adopt an agreement of merger or conversion; (c) amend the bylaws of the Organization; (d) fill vacancies on the Board; or (e) fix compensation of the Directors for serving on the Board or on a committee.

Any committee that does not include at least one Director may not execute the power or authority of the board in the management of the business and affairs of the Organization, but may perform under the direction of the board other functions determined from time to time by the Board.

**5.02 Establishing Committees**

The Board shall establish committees by resolution or other written document and shall make reasonable efforts to state in the resolution: the committee's purposes, the terms and qualifications of committee members, the authority and responsibilities of the committee (including spending authority, if any), and the ways in which members of the committees are selected and removed. All committee members serve at the pleasure of the Board, and Committees may be modified or terminated by the Board at any time.

**5.03 Committee Voting, Notice, and Meetings.**

Committees shall meet as directed by the Board, and their meetings shall be governed by the rules provided in these bylaws for notice, voting, and meetings of the Board.

**ARTICLE 6 DOCUMENT AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURES**

**6.01 General.**

No corporate documents (including agreements, checks, notes, disbursements, loans, and other debt obligations) shall be signed by any person unless authorized by the Board, these bylaws, or a policy or resolution adopted by the Board. Checks issued by Parallel 45 in an amount over \$50,000 shall require the signature of at least two authorized persons to be valid unless the Board adopts different signature requirements for certain types of expenditures or amounts in its sole discretion. No person is authorized to sign a check made out to him- or herself.

**6.02 Fiscal Year**

For tax and accounting purposes the fiscal year is a period of 12 consecutive months beginning September 1 and ending August 31.

**6.03 Financial Reports**

On an annual basis, the Board shall have a qualified person or entity prepare a report on the financial activities of Parallel 45 for the preceding fiscal year and distribute that report to each director at the annual meeting of the Board. The Board may in its discretion

require a full audit. The report may be distributed electronically but will be provided in written form to any Board member who so requests. The report shall include all of the following for the preceding fiscal year:

- A. An income statement.
- B. The year-end balance sheet, including trust funds and funds restricted by donors or the board.
- C. A statement of source and application of funds, if the Organization prepares that statement.
- D. Any other information required by the Board.

#### 6.04 **Budget**

If the Board approves an annual budget, and all expenditures must be within the budget or as otherwise approved by the Board. Any change in the budget must be approved by the Board or other designated committee.

#### 6.05 **Gifts and Donations**

The Board of Directors may accept on the behalf of the Organization any contribution, gift, bequest or device for any purpose of the Organization, subject to a gift acceptance policy the Board may adopt from time to time.

### ARTICLE 7 INDEMNIFICATION

#### 7.01 **Nonderivative and Derivative Actions.**

Parallel 45 shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding of any nature, against expenses (including attorneys' fees, judgments, penalties, fines, and amounts paid in settlement) in part or in full to the extent the Board determines the following criteria are met:

- A. The suit arises out of actions or inactions taken by the person in his or capacity as a Director, officer, employee, volunteer or agent of the Parallel 45 (or another entity at the request of Parallel 45);
- B. The person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Parallel 45, and the person acted or reasonably believed he or she was acting within the scope of his or her authority under the Parallel 45;
- C. With respect to any criminal action or proceeding, the person had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful;
- D. The lawsuit (and/or defense) and the proposed legal strategy and costs have been given prior authorization by the Board of Directors, unless this requirement is waived by the Board;
- E. The person provided prompt and timely notice of the lawsuit to the Board (usually within 14 days), unless the Board waives this requirement;
- F. The covered expenses are covered by insurance carried by the Board (unless this requirement is waived by the Board);
- G. The person is not liable to the Parallel 45 for the claim, issue, or matter; and
- H. Indemnification is authorized by law, the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and is consistent with the organization's status as a 501(c)(3) organization.

**7.02 Authority to Determine That Indemnification Is Proper.**

The Organization's decisions regarding whether indemnification is proper and the extent to which indemnification is proper shall be made in one of the following ways, or other manner authorized by statute:

- A. By a majority vote of a quorum of the Board that consists of Directors who are not parties or threatened to be made parties to the action, suit, or proceeding;
- B. If the Board is unable to obtain a quorum under subdivision (a), by majority vote of a committee appointed by the Board that consists of at least 2 directors who are not at the time parties or threatened to be made parties to the action, suit, or proceeding (all Directors may participate in designating the committee); or
- C. By independent legal counsel in a written opinion.

**ARTICLE 8 EXEMPT PURPOSES**

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Bylaws, if any provision of these Bylaws is contrary to the Organization's tax-exempt status recognized under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, the provision shall be void to the extent necessary for these Bylaws to be consistent with Section 501(c)(3) and rules promulgated thereunder.

**ARTICLE 9 AMENDMENTS**

A majority of the Board entitled to vote may amend these bylaws, or adopt new bylaws, if notice setting forth the terms of the proposal has been given in accordance with any notice requirement for the meeting of the Board.

**Restated Bylaws adopted on November 16, 2017**